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Lima 33, Perú

USAID/PARAGUAY - ENVIRONMENT 

  REGIONAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OFFICE

  USAID/PERU

  Avda. La Encalada s/n, Block 17 

    Lima 33, Perú

  

  

 The purpose of this RFA AMENDMENT No. 01 is to incorporate the “Questions and Answers”  
that comprises USAID’s responses to all questions received as part of this RFA.  
In addition, it includes “Annex D. USAID Political Party Assistance Policy.” 

 
       Accordingly, except as provided herein, all terms and conditions of the document   
       referenced in block 3 remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 
        

 

 

 

THE FOREIGN ASSISTANCE ACT OF 1961, 

 

   Cynthia L. Shartzer 

 Regional Agreement Officer 



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1. Questions received for RFA 526-12-000001  
 

Q1. Can the fact that an organization is implementing a similar and complementary program to the one 
described in the subject RFA be considered by USAID as a fact that diminishes the organization’s 
chances to be awarded the subject RFA’s new project? 

 
A1. January 30, 2012 is the deadline for a concept paper only. See p. 9-10 for instructions for the concept 
papers and concept paper review criteria. Do not submit an application on January 30, 2012. Only an 
applicant who receives a letter from the Regional Agreement Officer (RAO) on or about Friday, February 
10, 2012 will be requested to submit a full application. 

 
Q2. When presenting its Concept Paper in response to the subject RFA, should the applicant explain how 
two projects, the one under implementation and the one proposed, would complement or “blend” seeking 
programmatic and cost advantages that would not exist if both projects were implemented separately?, or 
should the applicant present a Concept Paper proposing the new project “as if” the “Public Policy 
Agendas and Collaborative Tools” program was implemented in a parallel and disconnected way?.  

 
A2.  A Concept Paper submitted should be responsive to this RFA-526-12-000001. See p. 9-10 for 
instructions for the concept papers and concept paper review criteria. Only an applicant who receives a 
letter from the RAO on or about Friday, February 10, 2012 will be requested to submit a full application. 

 
Q3. Can our application be focused on citizens not linked to local political parties, as a way to promote 
their involvement on the 2013 national elections?   

  
A3. The purpose of the program is to strengthen the capacity of political parties to structure programmatic 
engagement with citizens and voters on the basis of substantive policy proposals with the participation of 
party activists, and to enhance a programmatic based relationship among political parties and citizens, 
that may or may not be affiliates of political parties. Party activist participation and citizen participation are 
considered key contributing factors to develop programmatic parties. 

 
Q4.  Does the term of performance includes the national elections scheduled for April 20, 2013?  If so, 
can we include additional activities such as “conteo paralelo ciudadano” thorough the SAKA coalition?   

 
A4.  As noted on the RFA p 6, “The period of performance anticipated herein is for twelve months, 
through April 05, 2013.” Therefore the award will end before the general election date of April 20, 2013. 
As included in the “Policy” section of the attached “USAID Political Party Assistance Policy” the 
“…Political party assistance should be suspended a reasonable time prior to voting. Thirty days is a usual 
period.” 

 
Q5.  Where can we find detailed information on the 2 successful experiences, 1 from Argentina (RAP) 
and the other Paraguayan (Foro Político), in order to fully understand the requested approach. 

 
A5. For “Foro Politico,” please contact DENDE (http://www.dende.org.py/). 
The website for Fundación Red de Acción Política (RAP) is 
http://www.movimientorap.org/frontend/pages/index.php 
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Q6. When the subject RFA mentions “different regions of the country”, are we to include specific regions 
determined by USAID in the proposal? or do we have to mention the specific regions we intend to 
intervene in? Is there a specific number of regions that USAID expects us to work in? Do the regions 
selected need to respond to certain selection criteria determined by USAID? 

 
A6. There are not additional specific requirements with regard to regions other than the technical 
soundness and feasibility of the proposal. 
 
Q7. In Section I.B Background of the RFA (page 4), reference is made of the “Policy Agendas and 
Collaborative Technologies” project, and that this RFA is expected to “complement these efforts.”  Can 
we have access to the project "Policy Agendas and Collaborative Technologies" to elaborate our 
application?  

 
A7. For the project “Policy Agendas and Collaborative Technologies” see below FUNDING 
OPPORTUNITY DESCRIPTION from pp 4-5 of the Request for Applications (RFA) Number 526-11-
000001 “Public Policy Agendas and Collaborative Tools.” 
 
 
A. PURPOSE 

 
The program’s fundamental purpose is to facilitate and energize policy-based conversation and debate 
throughout the political party structure–from grass-roots to party leadership, and between parties, think 
tanks, and government actors.  This approach will strengthen public policy analysis and effective 
government as valued means to gain office, and diminish reliance on the decades-long patronage 
system, the core governance challenge in Paraguay today.  Additionally, the program will capitalize on 
this policy-based engagement to support political party efforts to develop policy proposals on key 
governance issues of interest to them through the use of collaborative technologies, participatory 
processes and partnerships with think tanks. 

 
B. BACKGROUND 

 
Paraguay has made significant progress since historic presidential elections in 2008 broke more than 60 
years of uninterrupted single party rule in Paraguay. Unprecedented efforts are being made to promote a 
better civil service, to make the Controller General and Attorney General’s Offices more effective in 
fighting corruption, and to make tax administration and customs more efficient, among other significant 
reforms. USAID democracy regular programs and the Threshold Program play a role in achieving these 
results.  
 
However, old machine politics remain deeply entrenched in the political culture and political parties lag 
behind overall reform efforts. The persistence of political patronage throughout government, even if 
reduced by reform efforts, undermines the effectiveness of the government decision making process. The 
proposed program, Policy Agendas and Collaborative Tools, is intended to have a significant impact by 
supporting political parties as key actors to participate in the reform process in this unique moment in 
Paraguayan history. 
 
In order to reduce machine politics, it is necessary to increase the quality of policy analysis and debate 
within political parties, making them more accountable and government more coherent, thereby reducing 
reliance on patronage, and increasing policy-based politics by injecting program-based criteria into the 
public discourse. 
 
Political parties are an important structure that facilitates the practice of corruption and clientelism that 
stunts more vigorous democratic growth in Paraguay. Via this proposal, USAID/Paraguay wants to work 
directly with political parties, their members and other citizens and voters to increase the value they place 



 

on solid public policy analysis and effective government as a means to gain votes and win office, thereby 
diminishing in equal part the value parties place on clientelism. 
 
The program will support political parties’ ability to build stronger policy analysis and debate skills on key 
democracy and governance issues, with the support of new technologies like wikis, brainstorming 
software, social media, deliberative polls and other participatory and collaborative mechanisms. Political 
party foundations, think tanks and public policy research organizations will play a key role in working with 
political parties to implement the program. 

 
C. EXPECTED OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOMES 

 

1. At least four (4) political parties engaged in developing public policy proposals, with the participation of 
party officials, party representatives in key government positions, and grassroots activists. 

2. A clearly-defined participatory process to develop policies on key governance issues implemented by at 
least four (4) political parties. 

3. Political party foundations, think tanks, or similar organizations support the policy building process by 
providing technical expertise and specific research as required by at least four (4) political parties. 

4. Party officials, party representatives in key government positions and grassroots activists of at least four (4) 
political parties use social media and collaborative tools on policy issues. 

 
D. ACTIVITIES  

 

The program will promote partnerships between political parties, political party foundations, think tanks, 
and research organizations, of which there are several currently operating at reasonably advanced levels.  

Political parties assisted via the program will engage in a participatory policy building process. Each 
political party will select key democracy and governance issues considered a priority by the party through a 
participatory process involving party officials, party representatives in key government positions, the party 
caucus in Congress, and grassroots party organizations. 

Political parties could use a variety of tools, such as polling or focus groups, to identify the policy areas of 
interest of Paraguayan citizens and voters. This information could then be used by the party to identify its 
key democracy and governance issues, upon which it could build public policy platforms. 

Political party foundations and think tanks will support the policy building process by providing technical 
expertise and specific research as required by the political parties. The expected result is that relations 
between think tanks and political parties will be strengthened through this collaborative process, which 
should continue beyond the life of the project.  

Inter-party dialogue will be promoted on key shared policy issues of concern with the participation of 
political foundations, think tanks, policymakers and political parties. 

The process will be implemented using new technologies interlinking a variety of tools, such as:  

1. Party officials and grassroots activists may develop and have access to web-based Policypedia using 
Wikimedia software, which will be linked to Facebook and Twitter, to the political parties’ websites, and 
to other social media. State of the art social media techniques like ads, tagging, and targeting could be 
used to increase citizen, voter and political actor participation on these sites. They will also disseminate 
information and direct user traffic to the Policypedia wiki;  

2. The program may promote broad, “beyond party lines” participation through Facebook and Twitter to 
reach a broad audience of followers and participants of all “political stripes” who use the social sites;  

3. Open, participatory web-based platforms such as brainstorming tools for policy discussions may also 
be used. These platforms allow users, such as policy specialists, party representatives in key 



 

government positions, and interested citizens, to come together on the internet to engage in policy 
discussion and exchange ideas in a more structured and organized fashion. 

Deliberative democracy polls with citizens and voters in addition to party affiliates could be implemented, to 
allow bottom-up participation and enhance party awareness of key policy issues. 
 
Q8. For the section of outputs and objectives pg. 4 of the RFA funding announcement document, we 
had a question in reference to the 3rd output and the significance of the wording implement and what this 
would entail. When you refer to political parties implementing the policy polling, would it be feasible that 
the grassroots organization in coordination with the private sector and volunteers design and execute the 
system (IT/cel phone) and the political parties participate in some other aspect? Promoting the poll in the 
public sphere and use the information for the debate? Or do you actually mean that the political parties´ 
technical team should be involved in the direct execution of this polling system?  

 
A8.  As mentioned under section D, Activities, #3, opinion polls may be implemented in alliance with civil 
society grassroots organizations including a broad network of volunteers.  

 
Q9. Are their certain issues/geographic areas of Paraguay that this call for proposals is focused on 
beyond the general objectives already mentioned, for example: use of new technologies in education, 
women´s rights? 

 
A.9 All relevant technical aspects were included in the RFA funding opportunity description 

 
Q10. What % of the total budget can go for administrative costs?  

 
A10. January 30, 2012 is the deadline for a concept paper only. As noted on RFA p. 10 Please submit a 
preliminary budget.  
 
An applicant who receives a letter from the Regional Agreement Officer on or about Friday, February 10, 
2012 and is requested to submit a full application should refer to RFA p. 11.  

An applicant requested o/a February 10, 2012 to submit a full application that does not have a Negotiated 
Indirect Cost Rate Agreement (NICRA) with a U.S. government agency may not propose a percentage 
(%) of cost for administrative costs. Instead, when the applicant is requested to submit a full application it 
is required to include in their estimate of direct costs all proposed administrative costs and explain in their 
budget narrative how those costs directly support the level of activities proposed in their application.  

 
Q11. Does the budget allow for a % to be set aside for unforeseen costs? 

 
A11. See A10 above, as noted on RFA p. 10 Please submit a preliminary budget.  
An applicant requested o/a February 10, 2012 to submit a full application should note that unforeseen, 
contingency, or miscellaneous costs are not allowable costs. Therefore, the applicant may not budget for 
“Unforeseen” costs. 

 
Q12. Any restrictions as to percentage of funding assigned to human resources/consultants?  

 
A12.  See A10 above, as noted on RFA p. 10. Please submit a preliminary budget.  
 
An applicant requested o/a February 10, 2012 to submit a full application is required to include in their 
estimate of direct costs all proposed costs and explain in their budget narrative how those costs directly 
support the level of activities proposed in their application.  
 
Q13. Can an organization be a leading agency in one proposal and a strategic partner in another 
proposal? 



 

 
A13. Yes, if both applicants are requested o/a February 10, 2012 to submit a full application then an 
organization can be proposed in two applications. However, only one applicant will be selected for award.  
 
A primary recipient of an award will be the signatory and the party fully responsible to the US government 
for management and administration according to the terms and conditions of the award, including 
accounting, allocation and documentation of personnel charges, etc. If an applicant requested o/a 
February 10, 2012 to submit a full application is submitted in partnership, the cost application must include 
documents that reflect the legal relationship among the parties. The documents should include a full 
discussion of the relationship among the applicants, including the identity of the applicant that will be the 
primary applicant and in the event of an award, the primary recipient.  

 
Q14. In the budget section is states that you need a timeline chart including the type of support 
requested from USAID? Could you please clarify what you mean by timeline chart...The budget format we 
have would be set up for 12 months and divided by Human Resources, Travel, workshops, etc.., but not 
sure what you need as far as timeline? 

 
A14. The timeline chart refers to a proposed month by month implementation schedule of the main 
activities envisioned which is required for the January 30, 2012 deadline for a concept paper. 

 
Q15. Could you please send us the "Policy Agenda and Collaborative Technologies" project that you 
mention in the call of proposals that is currently part of USAID actions? We find that this document would 
be key to analyzing how our proposal contributes or not to this USAID project 

 
A15. Please refer to A7. January 30, 2012 is the deadline for a concept paper only. Only an applicant who 
receives a letter from the RAO on or about Friday, February 10, 2012 will be requested to submit a full 
application. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS AND ANNEXES 
 
Supplement the list of Annexes with  
 
Annex D. USAID Political Party Assistance Policy (attached) 
 
 
 

[End of AMENDMENT No. 1 to RFA 526-12-000001] 
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USAID Political Party
Assistance Policy





Role of Political Parties in
Democracy

Competitive political parties are central to
any democracy. They perform a number of
functions that, in combination, distinguish

them from any other civic or social organization.
They recruit and nominate candidates for elected
office with the intent to govern. In the process,
they develop positions on issues of public concern,
stimulate public discourse, and formulate governing
platforms during election campaigns. After an
election, parties form either the government or the
opposition. Governing requires a different set of
capabilities to translate electoral platforms into 
performance. The credibility and legitimacy of
political parties in the public mind rest primarily
on performance while in office rather than in 
election campaigns.

The United States Interest

The spread of stable democratic governments
is in the long-term interest of the United
States. Assistance in strengthening political

parties—both in government and in opposition—
is one important way that the United States can
support its friends and allies engaged in democrati-
zation in developing and transitional societies.
Moreover, political party assistance provides an
important means to engage a nation’s future 
leadership, a factor often key to advancing U.S.
interests over time. For these reasons, the U.S.
Government encourages assistance to democratic
political parties.

Goals of USAID Political
Party Assistance
The goals of USAID’s political party assistance are
to

■ develop and consolidate representative 
democracies

■ develop transparent political environments

■ establish viable democratic parties

■ ensure conduct of free and fair elections

Policy

Political party assistance is a new USAID 
policy priority, one that requires commitment
and innovation. This policy defines a political

party as any entity that competes for elected office,
whether a political movement, party, electoral 
coalition, or alliance. The policy also applies to
nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) that 
operate as de facto political parties.

Two principles govern USAID’s political party
assistance policy:

■ USAID programs support representative, 
multiparty systems

■ USAID programs do not seek to determine
election outcomes

From these principles flow the following guidelines.
When it serves U.S. foreign policy interests, how-
ever, these guidelines may be waived.

■ USAID programs must make a good faith
effort to assist all democratic parties with 
equitable levels of assistance. Assistance to 
nondemocratic political parties is prohibited.
Where there are too many democratic political
parties to assist all effectively, USAID will assist
all significant democratic parties. The relevant
U.S. Government mission will determine 
which parties are significant.
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The credibility and legitimacy of political
parties in the public mind rest primarily
on performance while in office rather than
in election campaigns.



■ Commodity support valued at $50,000 or less
may be provided annually to each political
party that qualifies for assistance. 

■ Political party assistance should be suspended a
reasonable time prior to voting. Thirty days is a
usual period, but it will vary depending upon
the lead-time before an election.

Prohibited activities linked to influencing election
outcomes that would require a waiver include 

■ offering assistance to only one political candi-
date, party, or electoral coalition

■ providing commodity support valued over
$50,000 to any individual party

■ providing cash grants to any political party

■ paying salaries, wages, fees, or honoraria to any
candidate, political party leader, or campaign
official during a campaign period

■ paying for private polls for only one party or
candidate

■ organizing public meetings that endorse or 
feature only one candidate or political party

■ paying for a media message that specifically
endorses or supports one candidate or political
party

■ making payments to individuals with the 
intention of influencing votes

2 USAID Policy | USAID Political Party Assistance Policy

■ recruit and nominate candidates for 
elective office 

■ mobilize electoral support for 
candidates and stimulate electoral 
participation 

■ structure choices among competing 
groups of candidates along different
issue dimensions 

■ represent different social groups 

■ aggregate specific interests into broader
electoral and governing coalitions 

■ form and sustain governments 

■ integrate citizens into the nation-state 
and its political process

Electoral Governmental

Political Party Functions

Source: “Types and Functions of Parties,” in Political Parties and Democracy, Gunther and Diamond, eds. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2001: 7–9.



Policy Exceptions

Washington concurrence is required for
activities deviating from this policy that
use Economic Support Funds (ESF),

Freedom Support Act (FSA), Assistance for Eastern
European and Baltic States (AEEB)1, and Transition
Initiative (TI) funds. No waiver is possible, how-
ever, for use of Development Assistance (DA) funds.

To obtain a waiver, an Action Memorandum must
be submitted to the USAID administrator for
approval. The Action Memorandum may be draft-
ed by USAID (in Washington or in the field), the
State Department (in Washington or in the field),
or by the National Security Council. The Action
Memorandum must be cleared by State and
USAID regional bureaus; State’s Bureau for
Democracy, Human Rights and Labor; 
USAID’s Bureau for Democracy, Conflict, and
Humanitarian Assistance; USAID’s Bureau for
Policy and Program Coordination; and USAID’s
Office of the General Counsel.

The Action Memorandum must identify the 
specific aspects of the policy to be waived and 
provide a rationale for doing so. It must also
describe the proposed program, how it will be
implemented, and explain how the proposed 
deviation is consistent with U.S. Government 
policy in the country in question.

Concurrence must be obtained before funds are
obligated. All practicable steps will be taken to
ensure that the waiver process does not exceed two
weeks. A waiver to support a single democratic
electoral coalition will require a particularly rapid
decision, and for this reason, a decision against
such assistance must be made by Washington 
within two weeks of receipt.
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The Action Memorandum must identify
the specific aspects of the policy to be
waived and provide a rationale. 

1 Formerly Support for Eastern European Democracy (SEED)





Editorial and design assistance was provided by IBI–International Business Initiatives.
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Introduction

USAID’s Political Party Assistance Policy sets forth the
principles that govern the Agency’s engagement in the
field. This guidance is designed to help USAID staff
and decisionmakers in Washington and the field

■ determine if a program is subject to the policy

■ define key terms used in the policy

■ elaborate standards that must be met if seeking a
waiver to the policy

Which programs are subject to
USAID Political Party
Assistance Policy?

Direct political party assistance programs are subject 
to the policy. Also subject to the policy are assistance
programs that indirectly benefit political parties,
including—but not limited to—media assistance, 
get-out-the-vote programs, public opinion polling, 
and voter education activities. All such programs must
adhere to the principle of supporting representative,
multiparty systems, and must not determine election
outcomes.

How should USAID determine
whether a political party is
“democratic”?

This judgment should be based on party actions,
taken while either in government or in the opposi-
tion, within a time frame appropriate to the evolving
conditions within a country.  Other evidence that
could be used includes written materials, such as 
party platforms and propaganda; broadcast messages,
such as television and radio commercials; and inter-
views with party leaders.

Key indicators of a political party’s democratic creden-
tials include

■ support for peaceful, democratic means to obtain
power 
● Does the political party eschew the use of 

violence to overthrow democratic institutions
in practice as well as in policy? 

● If it endorsed or sponsored violence in the past,
has it renounced these practices and broken ties
to violent groups or organizations?

● Does the political party accept competitive 
elections?

■ respect for human rights and the rule of law 
● Does the political party reject the use of 

political terror, unjustified imprisonment, exile,
or torture against political opponents in prac-
tice as well as in theory?

● Does the political party obey the laws of the 
country? 

● Has or would the political party adhere to legal 
decisions rendered (recognizing that it is not
uncommon for democratic political parties to
be involved in legal action)? 

■ respect for freedom of religion, press, speech, and 
association
● Does the political party campaign or take

actions to restrict or constrain the independ-
ence of religious institutions and/or free and
independent media that are not engaged in or
espouse militant extremism? 

● Has the party taken action to undermine 
freedom of expression or association to restrict
political opposition?

Many political parties in countries where USAID
works fall somewhere between fully democratic and
nondemocratic. In the interest of inclusiveness, parties
making a good faith reform effort should be eligible
for assistance. Antidemocratic parties are ineligible 
for assistance.

USAID Political Party Assistance Policy

Implementation Guidance
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How should USAID determine if
a political party is “significant”?

Where there are a large number of political parties, 
providing assistance to them all may not be practical
or cost effective. Moreover, in such an environment,
support for all parties could encourage a fractured
political system. Determining whether a democratic
political party is, or has the potential to become, an
important force within the political system and 
therefore “significant” is a judgment to be made by 
the U.S. mission. The judgment should be based on
transparent, objective evidence, such as national and
local election results, opinion poll results, and/or
demographic data. Criteria to determine whether a
democratic political party is significant include

■ the size of the party’s base of support compared
with other democratic political parties 
● Do polls, political analysis, or other objective

information show that the party is or has the
potential to gain seats in local, regional, or
national legislatures? 

■ the level of success in previous elections compared
with other political parties 
● Is the number of votes won nationally or

regionally by the party high relative to other
parties? 

● Is the party currently seated in national, region-
al, or local government?

● What is its representational strength in nation-
al, regional, or local government relative to
other parties?

■ the potential for future success 
● Does the party represent a formerly unrepre-

sented but important group?

● Does the political party’s leadership have a his-
tory of mobilizing substantial numbers of peo-
ple or resources? 

● Having met other criteria noted above, could
political party assistance help a party gain a
sizeable share of seats in local, regional, or
national legislatures according to objective
analysis? 

What standards must be met
when seeking a waiver of the
policy?

Waivers should be exceptional and meet certain stan-
dards to justify 1) excluding a significant democratic
party, 2) including a nondemocratic or antidemocratic
party, or 3) supporting a single democratic party or
coalition. While it is impossible to anticipate every
eventuality, the following examples from the past
would merit a waiver from the policy:

■ Reasons for excluding a democratic political party
● The party represents a danger to particular popu-

lations or nations. “Democratic” political parties
may also be xenophobic, exclusionary, radically
anti-American, or involved in illegal practices
(e.g., narcotrafficking). Waivers to exclude 
democratic political parties on these grounds, 
if supported with substantial evidence, will be
favorably considered.

■ Reasons to include a nondemocratic political party
● Exclusion would place democratic parties and

USAID implementers at risk. If by excluding the
nondemocratic party, it is impossible to assist
democratic political parties without putting
them and implementers at risk, inclusion may
be justified. However, in such cases, the mission
should carefully consider whether assistance in
this environment is warranted at all.

● There is evidence that the nondemocratic party
may reform through assistance. If there is a strong
likelihood that democratic reformers within the
party may use assistance to reform the party
and, as a result, the party becomes democratic
within the program period, then assistance 
may be merited if supported with substantial
evidence.

■ Reasons to support a single democratic party or 
coalition 
● Fragmenting assistance may undermine democracy

goals. Competition is essential to democracy.
However, in a strict authoritarian system, a
fragmented opposition may be counterproduc-
tive to democracy goals. Thus, an appropriate
response may be to assist the efforts of demo-
cratic parties to establish a new coalition. 
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The USAID Political Party Development Assistance Handbook provides additional information on technical assistance.
<www.usaid.gov/democracy/pdfs/pnace500.pdf>


